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Friday, December 3, 2010


--- On commencing at 10:35 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  The Board has convened this morning to hear a motion brought on behalf of Union Gas Ltd. and a cross-motion brought by Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  Both the motion and the cross-motion are included in the Board's file designation EB-2010-0039.


The Board has received significant motion materials filed by Union Gas in support of its motion, and similarly, materials filed on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters, all of which are part of the record.


The Union motion seeks to adjourn a hearing currently scheduled for December 6th and 7th, 2010 respecting the disposition of certain deferral accounts.  Specifically, Union is seeking an adjournment of the hearing related to the disposition of those deferral accounts until February 2011.


The Union motion is opposed by Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.  The cross-motion brought by Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters seeks to in effect expedite the consideration of the motion currently scheduled for December 6th and 7th respecting the same deferral accounts.  The cross-motion is opposed by Union Gas Limited.  So in effect we have a motion to adjourn and a motion to expedite simultaneously.  Can I have appearances, please?

Appearances:


MR. SMITH:  Yes, it's Crawford Smith from Torys on behalf of Union Gas.  With me is my colleague, Emily Kirkpatrick, at the far left, and from Union Gas Mark Kitchen and Chris Ripley.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn, Federation of Rental Housing Providers of Ontario.


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, sir, Ms. Hare.  Ian Mondrow for IGUA.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  And Kristi Sebalj, Board counsel, and with me are Hima Desai and Neil McKay.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, the Board is not in receipt of any materials from you, Mr. Mondrow, or you, Mr. Quinn.  I take it you are -- do you intend to make submissions this morning?


MR. MONDROW:  Likely not.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  The Federation has been part of this proceedings from the outset, and we are here to support Mr. Thompson in terms of our work together.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that the extent of the submission you want to make?


MR. QUINN:  That will be the extent of our submission, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.


What I would propose -- sorry?


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, I forget.  Robert Warren contacted me and wanted to indicate that though he couldn't be here today he wanted to support Peter Thompson's submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.


What I would propose to do is to in effect collapse the submissions with respect to the motion and the cross-motion into one round.  That is to say, we would probably begin with you, Mr. Smith, to support your -- in support of your motion, to include in your remarks your opposition to the cross-motion.  Mr. Thompson, we would then call on you to reply to both the motion and any comments you want to make in support of your cross-motion.  Mr. Smith would then have a right of reply and, if you felt it necessary, Mr. Thompson, we'd consider a request for a reply from you as well.  Does that work for everyone?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, yes, it does.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Is there anything further before we begin?


MR. THOMPSON:  Just a couple of documents I would like to provide to the Panel.  One is a brief of confidential documents that I mentioned in a communiqué yesterday.  I have two of those for the Board, and I also have bound copies of the few authorities that I did mention, or did -- I think we circulated those yesterday as well.  So if we could put -- might as well get those on the record now if we could, please.


MS. SEBALJ:  If I could just -- with respect to the brief of confidential documents, which is the larger package, I am assuming that all of the parties in this room have signed declarations and undertakings with respect to all of the documents, but I do have a small concern.  I noticed at the first tab, for instance, that it is with respect to an EB number, a matter, essentially, that is different from this matter, and I am wondering from a very technical perspective whether parties should re-sign a declaration and undertaking with respect to those materials, because they should have been either destroyed or returned at the termination of that proceeding.  And I do have declarations and undertakings with me, so we can expedite this process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Why don't I speak to that.  The material at tab 1 is the purchase and sale agreement.  It's correct that was produced in a previous proceeding, but it was also produced in this proceeding when -- as part of the settlement agreement.  It's referred to in the settlement agreement in Mr. Kitchen's affidavit.  So it has in fact been produced in this proceeding in confidence.


MR. SMITH:  That's quite right.  We agreed as part of the settlement agreement we would make the documents that had previously been produced available in this proceeding.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me -- let's approach it from this point of view.  These are documents that are of commercial sensitivity to your client, Mr. Smith.  I think the issue probably is restricted to Mr. Mondrow's -- whether Mr. Mondrow had executed a confidential undertaking in whatever previous proceeding, and similarly Mr. Quinn.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  I have executed an undertaking in the EB-2010-0039 proceeding and in the -- if you bear with me for one moment, I can give you the other number.  I think it was the proceeding in which the confidential agreement -- in which the purchase and sale agreement was first produced, which, if I recall correctly -- well, it was in the Dawn Gateway proceeding for the alternative regulatory structure -- I am sorry I am struggling with the numbers, because we have -- I have decisions in front of me from the different proceedings, but in at least two of the proceeding, including the one whose docket number is on this motion, or these opposing motions, and the Dawn Gateway regulatory model proceeding, those were the proceedings that I acted for IGUA in, and I executed undertakings in respect of both of those.


And further, it seems to me, with respect, that if -- the documents being put on the record in this proceeding, the undertaking I executed in respect of this docket number would cover that -- would now cover that agreement.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And perhaps for clarity of the record, if you are prepared to accept that you are bound to maintain the confidentiality of the document, we can perhaps sort out the numbers a bit later, but if that's your undertaking on the record, then that's your undertaking on the record.


MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, is that satisfactory to you?


MR. SMITH:  It is satisfactory.  I suppose I should draw to the Board's attention that there was an issue that originally arose in the 2008-0411 case about the documents, given their commercial sensitivity and which intervenor should receive them, even if they had executed a confidential undertaking, and the Board ultimately determined that CME, FRPO, Board Staff, the Board, and obviously Union would have the documents.


Mr. Mondrow's clients did not seek access to the documents, and so they were not encompassed in the Board's decision at page 17 of our record.  But I have no objection whatsoever to him seeing them now.


MR. MONDROW:  I have the purchase and sale agreement on a confidential basis from one of the previous proceedings.  That might short-circuit the issue.


MR. SMITH:  That's completely acceptable.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I do remember reading that as part of the record in this -- as reflected in this motion, actually.


So I take it from your remarks, Mr. Smith, that you are confident that Mr. Quinn is bound to an undertaking that covers this document?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, yes, I am.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You consider yourself bound, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I do, sir.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  That's fine.  I suppose we should mark it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please.


MS. SEBALJ:  X1.1.
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MR. MONDROW:  But for the record, sir, if it helps, I think the other docket that I was referring to -- sorry to interrupt, but in respect of the regulatory model proceeding, as I called it, was EB-2009-0422, if I am not mistaken.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And I think the brief of authorities that we have just -- the bound version, and I don't think that needs an exhibit number.  That just simply forms part of the record.


MS. SEBALJ:  I believe so.  It was filed in advance.  This is just another copy.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board also has points of argument that were filed on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters, and that similarly does not need an exhibit number, I wouldn't think.  It's part of the record.  Is that satisfactory, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, yes, it is.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Without further ado, Mr. Smith, if you would like to begin your comments in support of your motion and your opposition to the cross-motion.

Submissions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Members of the Panel, as you indicated at the outset, this is a motion by Union Gas to adjourn a proceeding relating to the disposition of two deferral accounts, being accounts number 179-121 and 179-122.


It is Union's position that its motion for an adjournment will result in the proper evidentiary basis on which the Board can make a fair determination with respect to the disposition of those accounts.  It will not result in any prejudice to ratepayers, particularly having regard to the structure of the accounts - which I will come to - and proceeding at this time will serve no utility, in that it will result in the waste of time and resources, and a decision on an incomplete record, which serves no party's interest ultimately.


We also oppose the cross-motion by CME for, in effect, summary judgment with respect to the disposition of those motion -- those deferral accounts.  And it is Union's position that CME's motion is particularly ill-founded, having regard to the purpose of the deferral accounts themselves.


The purpose of the deferral accounts is to compensate ratepayers for harm that will occur if the sale transaction proceeds.


Two points.  One, it is not a certainty whether the transaction will proceed, and two, most importantly, it is a certainty that the sale transaction has not yet proceeded.  And that is of paramount importance, because if the sale transaction has not proceeded, the harm contemplated by the deferral accounts has not occurred, and in effect, what Mr. Thompson's motion seeks to do is to create a fiction, to pretend that the harm has occurred and credit ratepayers as though it has.


Nobody is disputing, as a factual matter, it has not.


I think the starting point for the analysis is really the 2008-0411 decision, which can be found in our motion record at tab A.


And this was an application by Union to dispose of the St. Clair line.  In considering whether or not to grant approval for the sale, the Board applied the no-harm test.  And if you look, Members of the Panel, there were a number of issues in this proceeding relating to the jurisdiction of the Board in respect of the St. Clair line and whether or not it ought to fall to this Board or the NEB.


None of those have any bearing today.


I would begin at paragraph 55, which can be found at page 29 of tab A of our record. 


What the Board says, I suppose, at paragraph 54 beginning:

"The Board does not see any reason to depart from the no-harm test, but notes that in any particular case the determination by the Board of whether there is harm requires a comparison of the effect of the proposed transaction to the status quo."


And then at paragraph 55, the Board goes on to say:

"Keeping these factors in mind, the Board has considered the following questions."


And enumerated below are six factors.  And I draw your attention to the final factor:

"Would there be harm to ratepayers as a result of the asset sale?"


And then the Board goes on to consider the various factors.  And it's the last factor which is germane to this motion, because it's that factor which gives rise to the deferral accounts.  And consideration of that factor begins at paragraph 78 on page 34.


And you will see over on page 35 at paragraph 81, that it was my friend and his client who came forward with the argument that there would be harm; there would be harm if the sale transaction goes ahead, in that ratepayers will derive no benefit from the future revenues earned on the line.  Why?  Because those revenues would be earned by DGLP, which was a partnership of Spectra and an unrelated entity, DTE, ensured they would be earned on an unrelated basis.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, I just want to perhaps -- I hesitate to interrupt, but it is --


MR. SMITH:  I invite it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is not the Board's intention today to get in any degree into the merit, apart from what Mr. Thompson is urging us to consider in his cross-motion.  I take it these are submissions related to the adjournment itself, so what I want to avoid as much as possible is a blurring of that, so that we deal with the adjournment itself and not too -- not too deeply at this stage in the question as to whether there is merit in the position that you are espousing.


That position is the position that Mr. Thompson very pointedly and specifically opposes, in effect.


MR. SMITH:  I take your point, sir.  I make the observation because, really, it's this decision that is the genesis of the deferral account. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Fair enough. 


MR. SMITH:  And clearly, my friend is going to be saying -- is going to be saying in his submissions that these accounts should be summarily disposed of.  And he is going to be saying -- I take from his points in argument -- whether we get into the back and forth or not, he is going to be saying at some level, Union made a variety of representations about the sale date, and as a result -- and those representations can't be disputed.  We obviously disagree; I won't get into that.  But those representations cannot be disputed, and as a result it's appropriate to dispose of the account.


I will be saying in response to that motion, yes, there is a back and forth.  There is a dispute in the evidence, and for that reason and that reason alone, you ought not to grant summary judgment, and yes, this matter should be put off until you have a complete record.


But I also say that it's imperative that the Board appreciate why it is that there is money in these deferral accounts, and what that money is supposed to do.  And it's supposed to compensate for harm in the future from a sale that nobody is disputing hasn't taken place.  And so if there is no sale, there can't be harm.  Therefore, there would be no reason to dispose of the deferral accounts.


So I make that -- I think it's important, because it is both in support of our motion and in response, though, fairly, primarily in response to my friend's position.


So the Board ultimately did grant leave to sell the asset, and it did so on condition, and it did so on the condition that the harm which would be occasioned in the event of the sale and the loss of the future revenues could be compensated through recognizing the sale at fair market value, fair market value being determined by the Board as being the cost of a replacement line along the alternative route.  And that was calculated at $18 million, and it resulted in an amount ultimately of $6.4 million which would be captured in the deferral account.


So if you turn to paragraph 103, Members of the Panel, I believe it is -– no, 109 on page 42 of the record, the Board observes:

"In summary, the Board has the authority to allocate to ratepayers a portion of the net gain on a sale where there is harm to ratepayers.  The Board has found that there will be harm to ratepayers from this transaction, which has not occurred.  However, Union's proposal is for transfer price at net book value, and in Union's view there is no net gain available for allocation to ratepayers in any event.  The Board goes on to disagree with that final proposition, finding that there is additional value on a regulatory basis from a fair market calculation, as opposed to a net book value calculation."


And then if you go, members of the Panel, to the end -- very end of the decision, page 37, here is the Board's order ultimately granting leave on certain -- leave to sell on certain conditions.  And there are two that I really want to focus on.  First is 1(b):

"The ratepayers will receive a credit for rate-making purposes equal to the amount of the cumulative under-recovery from 2003 until the time of the transaction, which amount shall be placed in a deferral account for disposition in a rates proceeding." 


That finding gives rise to the two deferral accounts, and I will take you to those in a minute.  It's the second that I think is also particularly important in response to my friend's motion.


The Board's leave to sell the St. Clair line to the Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership shall expire on December 31, 2013.  If the transaction has not been completed by that date, a new application for leave to sell will be required in order for the transaction to proceed.


In other words, to the extent my friend suggests that the sale was a certainty, has always been a certainty, and is forever a certainty, the Board recognized from the earliest decision in this proceeding that it was only a contingent future possibility, and its order specifically contemplates that the decision would not take place, not only not in 2010, but -11, -12, and right up through -13.  And if the sale had to take place after that, a future application would take place.


So in my submission, what we are talking about today, in terms of an adjournment until February of 2011, is well within what the Board initially contemplated in its decision in the 2008-0411 decision.


The specific deferral accounts at issue can be found at tab B.  This is the Board's decision continuing in this 08-0411 case, and it's a decision of the Board dated May 11, 2010.  And I submit that there is some significance to the date of the Board's decision, because the date of the Board's decision post-dates a letter that's in the record from Dawn Gateway advising the Board that it did not intend to proceed with the transaction at that time.  That letter can be found at tab D of our motion record.  It's a letter from Dawn Gateway copying all intervenors directed to the Board's Secretary and advising that, while it had been DGLP's intention to proceed, having regard to the Board's decision, it had been approached by its shippers as a result of changing market dynamics, which I don't believe are in dispute, but in any event are discussed at some length in Mr. Kitchen's affidavit and in Union's pre-filed evidence in this case, saying market conditions had substantially deteriorated, and shippers had come to DGLP and said, 'We don't want to proceed with the transaction.'


And in my submission, it's nobody's interest that they be forced into contracts kicking and screaming, and in any event, as discussed in our submissions at length, Union has no ability to compel DGLP to complete the sale.  There are conditions precedent, there is a dispute about that, no doubt, but that dispute would have to be resolved on a fair hearing, but certainly our position today, the sworn evidence is that there is a dispute over whether Union can compel DGLP to complete the sale.


And subject to your directions, Members of the Panel, I don't intend to go into that, other than to highlight that there is sworn evidence from Union that it cannot do that.


So returning to tab B.  So before this decision is rendered, the Board has information that the sale transaction is not going to be proceeding at that time, and it orders two accounts, accounts 179-121 and 179-122, and they are specifically -- the precise wording of those accounts are set out at the back of the decision in Appendix "A" and Appendix "B".


But mechanically, what is happening with the accounts is, account 179-121 records a credit to ratepayers of $6.4 million.  That credit was calculated on the basis of an under-recovery of the line from 2003 to a deemed sale date of March 1, 2010.


There is in my friend's materials, and there was back when this case was being fought out initially, a dispute about whether that March 1, 2010 date was appropriate.  And you will see some reliance by my friend on the conclusion that for regulatory purposes March 1, 2010 should be used.


In my submission, any reliance on that is wholly without merit.  Yes, people believed that the transaction was going to go ahead at that time.  Obviously, it was nothing more than a belief at that time, because the transaction had not gone ahead.


But when you go into the back-and-forth, what was really happening when you look at the transcript is people recognized things had to happen in the U.S. and a decision ultimately had to be made, but the question was, for the purposes of estimating this credit, what date should we use, and that's it, and the March date is calculated, and thus you have the $6.4 million.


My friend, ironically, was then arguing for a deemed sale date of December 2010.  It doesn't matter, for this reason:  1), the deferral account attracts interest; and 2), the second deferral account established by the Board, 179-122, captures the effect of removing the St. Clair line from rates, from the March deadline, from the March 2010 date.


In other words, you have captured the period from 2003 to March, and you are continuing to capture in the second deferral account the effect of removing the line from March 1, 2010 forward to the date of disposition.  That account grows every month, and it's for this reason that my friend cannot possibly be harmed by the delay of the disposition of the account.  Even if he were right, he can't be harmed by this, in that the account continues to grow.  Whether it's today or February, it continues to grow at about $100,000 a month, which is the amount of the rate impact of having this in rates.


And so whether the date back a year ago had been settled as the March date or the April date or the June date, it doesn't really matter.  You are getting full coverage as a result of the structure of the deferral accounts, in my submission.


So that brings us to the deferral accounts, and what has happened since then, as I indicated, there is a decision, ultimately an agreement by DGLP and the shippers to amend the agreements.  The amendment contemplates that the shippers would have the ability on November 1, 2010 to give notice of an intention to proceed for a 2011 -- November 2011 in-service date.


The shippers did not give notice.  In other words, sitting here today, the transaction has not gone ahead, and the only commercial certainty is that it will not go ahead.  And therefore, there will not be harm to ratepayers from a transaction.


That's not what DGLP wants.  It is -- it hopes that the project goes ahead, and has remained in discussions with the shippers to continue for a 2011 in-service date.  Those negotiations are ongoing.


Back in August when the settlement agreement was reached, the November 1 date was used, and it was believed that there would be sufficient information to proceed December 6th and 7th for the disposition of the accounts. Union does not dispute that if the sale transaction's going ahead, my friend has an entitlement -- the ratepayers have an entitlement to the credit.  But if it doesn't, there will be a fight, because it's certainly Union's position that the asset which the Board found to be used and useful in the 08-0411 case should be returned to rate base.  No doubt there will be a fight about that, but that will be Union's position.


Coming up -- here we are, coming up to the dates -- no commercial certainty that -– well, certainty that the transaction is not going go ahead based on the failure to receive a notice from the shippers that it would.  DGLP has remained in negotiations, and those negotiations are ongoing.


In addition, DGLP has initiated an open season.  The open season is to deal with two things.  One, unsubscribed firm capacity on the proposed pipeline of -- I think it's 80,000 decatherms per day.  That is the first time I had seen a decatherm before, but I gather it's a lot.  80,000 decatherms, with the possibility of additional capacity being taken up by shippers in the event they subscribe for more, because as I say, this is now a negotiation basically with everybody, to see how this is going to shake out.


It is the sworn evidence in the proceeding that it is DGLP's best expectation or expectation that this is the best way to ensure that the transaction goes ahead, is through the continuation of those negotiations and through this open season process.


The open season process will see shippers, if they are interested, submit bids on December 7th, and DGLP to respond by December 20th. 


The position of Union Gas on this motion is that it will serve everybody's interests to allow that process to run through to completion, to allow the open season to be completed, bids to be evaluated, a period of time for negotiations, the finalization of any contracts arising from that open season.


And then when we come out the other side, it's anticipated early in the new year, we will be in a position to know if this project is dead on the vine or, as DGLP hopes, going ahead.


If it is going ahead, Union has indicated to my friend that the balances in the deferral accounts will be cleared at the next available opportunity, presumably Union's Q2 QRAM application.


If not, then there will be -- at that point, Union's position, as I indicated earlier, will be a fight about whether this asset should be returned to rate base. 


You will have seen -- just to sum up on the adjournment motion, I say my friend will not be prejudiced.  I say that the Board will be in a better position to make the right decision, having regard to the purpose of the deferral accounts.


It's important -- I don't want to beat this too much, but the purpose of the deferral accounts is not simply to confer a windfall, because that would be wrong.  It would have, in effect, amounted to impermissible ratemaking if the Board had simply said yes, there had been under-recovery of this utility asset.  Notwithstanding that it was used and useful and notwithstanding a finding of prudence when it was initially put it in, we are going to give ratepayers a credit.  That wasn't what was contemplated.


What was contemplated was harm from the transaction and future loss of revenues, and there is no dispute that hasn't happened.


So in my submission, adjournment is the reasonable outcome.  Nobody will be prejudiced, and we'll be in a better position to make the right decision.  We will be making the wrong decision on an incomplete records if we proceed today.  Union's position will invariably be forced to be that the amount should be returned to rate base, because that's the only thing that we can go for with certainty today.


Dealing with my friend's summary judgment motion, the submissions are largely the same in terms of the no harm to ratepayers.


There is, of course, no provision for summary judgment in the Board's Rules of Practice.  The Board had already indicated that there would be an oral hearing or a two-day hearing to deal with the disposition of the deferral accounts.  And so I say, firstly, my friend, he criticizes us for this, but my friend is equally culpable if not more so of attempting to avoid an agreement the parties had made with respect to how this would be dealt with. 


I also say even if summary judgment is available by analogy to the Board, that this is not an appropriate case for summary judgment.  I say that because although the rules with respect to summary judgment have been recently relaxed by the Rules of Civil Procedure, the test remains the same.


My friend has to establish that there is no genuine issue for trial, no genuine issue which requires a trial -- or in this case, a hearing -- and in my submission, this case is wholly unsuitable for summary judgment.


On the record, on my friend's record alone, there are facts in dispute.  The facts relate to the conditions precedent, and whether they have been satisfied or not.  My friend says that they have.  Union had an annual report; he draws the conclusion that the annual report indicates that the conditions precedent have been satisfied, and that this transaction will inevitably go ahead.


Two observations.  The annual report, first of all, predates Dawn Gateway's letter in April, because it's a March annual report.


And secondly, it ignores the sworn evidence in this proceeding, on which my friend has elected not to cross-examine, and which was made available at the technical conference in this proceeding, that the conditions precedent have not been satisfied.  Union cannot waive or satisfy those conditions precedent; only DGLP can.  It has not.  And therefore, Union can't compel the sale of the St. Clair line to DGLP.


There are facts in dispute with respect to what my friend says are the representations that were made in the 0422 proceeding by Mr. Baker -- among others, I assume -- with respect to the certainty with which this transaction -- the certainty with which this transaction was going to go ahead.


I say in response to that, first, no surprise that in March, before market prices and the dynamics changed, it was everybody's expectation that the transaction was going to go ahead.  I don't think anybody can be impugned on that basis.  But it ignores the subsequent events, and it ignores DGLP's letter, and it ignores, for example, the evidence from Union Gas in the proceeding, in the 0422 proceeding, which I have referred to in my materials, that say at all times qualifies whether this project was going to go ahead.


Union's evidence was here is the estimated amount that should be recorded in the deferral account, should the project proceed.  If the project does not proceed, no deferral account is necessary.


And indeed, that can be found in my friend's materials at tab 8.  Tab 8 -- let me just make sure I have got this right.  Tab 5.


And this is Union's reply submission, I'm sorry, in the 08-0411 case, page 1 of 8.  Date of transaction, line 8 of page 1:

"If the sale of the St. Clair Pipeline actually occurs, Union estimates that the closing date will be..."


And so on. 


Over the page -- let me just make sure I have the correct cites for you.  You will see it in my factum.  I believe it's on the last page, tab 3 of my friend's motion record.  This is Union's submission, again, in the 08-0411 proceeding.  Down at the bottom of page 1 of 6, "And its estimate", beginning at line 19:

"And its estimate as of March 1, 2010, which is the projected closing date, no certainty of the transaction should the project proceed."


Page 3:

"Union expects to proceed with the sale of the St. Clair line to..."


This is at line 16 of page 3:

"Union expects..."


Of course they expected at the time:

"...to proceed with the sale of the St. Clair line to DGLP immediately thereafter.  Accordingly, for the purposes of calculating the cumulative under-recovery of the St. Clair line, Union has assumed that the sale will occur in March 1, 2010." 


So in my submission, from the earliest days -- and it cannot be put any better than the Board put it in its condition number 2 on the leave to sell -- everybody has understood that this was only a conditional possibility.


But I say further than that, not only has there been no harm, so even if parties believed it, had said it unequivocally, 'Yes, this will happen,' two points.  First, again, no harm arises, because the transaction hasn't occurred, and therefore my friend cannot establish an entitlement to the amount in the deferral account.  It would undermine the entire purpose for which the deferral accounts were established.


And second, this is not a case of estoppel.  My friend's clients have not relied on any representations made by Union.  Putting them at their absolute highest, there is no evidence that my friend's clients have in any way changed their position based upon any statement as to when this transaction was expected to occur.  And there can be absolutely no detriment, because there has been no harm, because the harm only arises if there is a sale.  And there has been no sale.


And just to conclude, my friend relies most on -- I suppose the most recent document being Union Gas's submission in the natural gas market review.  And with respect, I say that is very unfortunate parsing of words by my friend.


Let me just make sure I have got the cite for it.  It's at tab 15 -- 18, I am sorry.  The submission with respect to Dawn Gateway can be found at page 9 of 32.  And my friend refers to the assertion by Union that this project will proceed.  It ignores entirely the sentence before it, which is:

"The Dawn Gateway project was approved by the Board in March of 2010 and is currently on hold waiting for the market dynamics to provide additional support."


So in my submission, with respect to my friend's motion, to summarize three points, he cannot establish an entitlement today because, as a matter of fact, the sale has not gone ahead, and as a matter of fact there has been no harm.  Secondly, there has been no reliance, no detriment at all.  So even if my friend were correct that there were unequivocal representations as to the sale date, he would not be entitled to summary judgment.  And third, there is a clear factual dispute on the record which will require this Board to weigh the evidence and reach a conclusion.


So subject to any questions you may have, those would be my submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Submissions by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  My submission to you is that the issue for you today is this:  Is Union's position -- this is their current position -- that ratepayers are not entitled to the benefit of the deferral account balances before the actual sale takes place a position on which Union has any prospect of success at a hearing.


I submit the answer is clearly "no", and I propose to take you through the record to demonstrate why I submit that the answer is clearly "no".


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me interrupt early on, Mr. Thompson, before you develop momentum.  One of the things that the Board is very particularly interested in in its consideration of an adjournment application is, is harm, harm that is irreversible in this case to ratepayers in the event that the adjournment were to be granted, which has absolutely nothing to do with the determination of the merits of the respective positions, but simply that if the adjournment were to be granted, is there some kind of irreparable harm that would be occasioned to ratepayers accordingly.


So if you could somewhere in your submissions address that rather key consideration for the Board in its consideration.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  If I could come to that in due course, I will.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  My point is, is that in terms of an overview, if you agree that Union's position with respect to this entitlement issue stands no reasonable chance of success, then the adjournment motion should be dismissed and the cross-motion relief requested should be granted.  If you do not agree with that, then I concede then you put the case over as Union proposes.  I am not here expecting we are going to go ahead with anything on Monday or Tuesday if I am unable to persuade you that their position has no chance of success.


So it's with that that I would propose to take you through the material that we have provided in an overview sense, and during the course of that I will deal with the point about harm that has been raised.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  The first point I wanted to make is with respect to the Union current position.  And you will find that in their notice of motion.  I guess it's at tab 1 of their motion record, and it's on page 4, in sub-paragraph (x), at the bottom of the page.


Picking it up at the second line -- the first line:

"It will be Union's position that ratepayers are not entitled to the balances in the St. Clair deferral account unless and until the sale takes place."


That's the position, and that's the position that I suggest to you cannot possibly succeed at a hearing.


Now, just on this issue of positions, Union's position is one that has a chameleon-like quality to it, because the shades of it change, and I just wanted to take you to an illustration of that proposition.


And if you would be kind enough to go with me to -- it's, I think, the tab -- tabs -- these are recent communications between our firm and Union, and it's tabs 19 and 20 of our motion record.


Tab 19, just quickly, is a letter we wrote following Union's disclosure to us on -- I think it was November the 9th, that they were planning to make this motion to adjourn if we couldn't agree on the adjournment.  And at the bottom of the page, you will see, I said:

"No specifics were provided as to why this action by Dawn Gateway should affect the rates of Union ratepayers to have the balances recorded in either both of these deferral accounts cleared now and brought into account in the 2011 rates.  The facts you described yesterday indicate that Dawn Gateway plans to proceed with options that might mitigate the consequences it's brought on itself by failing to hold its five committed shippers to the terms of their long-term contracts.  In our view, the actions that Dawn Gateway takes to mitigate those consequences have no bearing on the entitlement."


And so Union, then, responded to that, by the next tab, at tab 20.  And if you go to page 2, and this was the position then:

"Union and intervenors may disagree on whether ratepayers are entitled to the balances in the deferral accounts if the Dawn Gateway project does not proceed.  But there is no disagreement that if it does, the deferral account should be disposed of in favour of ratepayers."


So the position there was not dependent on when the sale takes place; it was dependent on whether the project proceeds or does not proceed.  Slightly different.


And so in our response to that, which comes at tab 22, you will see at page 4, we were addressing this question:  Is the project unlikely to proceed?


And that is how the submissions that came -- that they made November 2, which was about two weeks previously, were relevant, because in those submissions the point was being made by Union -- and you will find those submissions at tab 18, if you go to page 9, this is Union's submissions to you on the market review.


The first paragraph, they are describing the competition that occurred to bring supplies from various eras to Dawn.  And the second paragraph, they basically are patting themselves on the back.  They won that competition:

"Market participants have chosen to support Dawn Gateway as the preferred economic and routing option."


And then they go on and say:

"The Dawn Gateway project was approved by the Board and is currently on hold, waiting for the market dynamics to provide additional support."


The project has been subscribed -- 78 percent sold out was the evidence when the Dawn Gateway was before the Board.  And then it goes on:  "When in service..." -- It's not saying if this pipeline.  There is no doubt about, there is no question here about uncertainty of being built.  It's:

"When in service, this pipeline will further add to Dawn liquidity and will benefit the Ontario natural gas market by adding additional supply to Dawn at a time of declining WSCB deliveries to Ontario, enhancing market liquidity at the Dawn Hub."


So our position before we got the motion was pretty convincing evidence the project will proceed.  The position Union was taking before the motion was if the project proceeds, ratepayers are entitled.


We then go to motion, and we are back to:  No, no, it's not when if the project proceeds, it's when the sale takes place.


The point I would ask you to bear many mind here is these parties are not arm's-length parties.  They could arrange it so that the actual last step in this project is the completion of the sale transaction.


So the position is one that changes from time to time.  The position in the spring of this year that kicked this off, and I just draw your attention to that briefly, is at tab -- yes, tab 13. 


And just to put it in context, the previous document at -- that preceded this document at tab 13 is the document that my friend referred to at tab D of his material.  This is the letter of April 19 from Dawn Gateway to the Board.


My friend said this letter says the sale transaction is not going to proceed.  It doesn't say that at all.


If you read it carefully, what Dawn Gateway is saying is:  We have agreed to delay construction.  They haven't said:  We are not going through with the sale.  We have agreed to delay construction.  And we will -- and at the end:

"We will keep you informed of any future developments with this pipeline project.  Please bring this letter to the attention of the Board Panel."


So there is nothing in that letter that says the sale is not going to proceed as originally presented.  Where that concept first appears is in the material at tab 13, and this is a concept being presented by Union.  They cite the delays of the construction.  And then the operative part is down at lines 12 to 15:

"If Dawn Gateway does not proceed with the purchase of the St. Clair line, Union will file a motion with the Board in EB-2008-0411."


So that's not in the deferral account proceeding, that's in the proceedings -– sorry, that's not in 0039 proceeding, that's back in the proceedings that gave rise to the order for approval to attribute the amounts in these deferral accounts back to Union, and to continue to recover the cost of the St. Clair line and delivery rates.


So the position there was we really have to bring a motion to review and vary the initial Order before we can go ahead with getting relief that will attribute this stuff back to Union.


So it's shifted.  We think we have to bring a motion to vary –- sorry, it's when the project proceeds -- no, it's when the sale actually proceeds.


So that changing position, in my respectful submission, is something that I ask you to bear in mind when you are assessing whether this position is one that is likely to proceed.


I can see you are waiting for me to say something about harm, so maybe I'll jump to it --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  At your complete convenience, but so long as you get to it sooner or later.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there is harm here in several respects.


First of all, the representations that I will come to in a moment weren't made to us; they were made to the Board.  And they were made to the Board for the purpose of obtaining relief that both Dawn Gateway and Union were asking the Board to grant, and they were representations that were made under oath.


And so if the Board doesn't hold utilities that appear before it to the representations that they make to the Board to obtain relief they are seeking in their favour, that is ultimately granted, there is harm.  There is process harm.  In terms of harm to ratepayers, I submit ratepayers are being harmed because they are not enjoying the lower rates that they would enjoy under the clearing of the deferral accounts.


Is the owner being advantaged by that?  Yes.  First of all, Union is the largest shipper on Dawn Gateway, so any delay in construction benefits Union.  And I will come to that in a moment.  But secondly, clearance of the deferral accounts, the way the consideration was arranged -- and I will come to it in a moment in the material -- in effect will create a hit for Union's owner in the unregulated side or the non-utility side of the business.


So the failure of Union to clear the deferral accounts in a timely manner is, I submit, harming the process, it's a disadvantaging -- ratepayers are not enjoying the lower rates, and in any event, clearance of deferral accounts doesn't depend on harm.  I couldn't say to Union, 'Well, don't clear your PGVA now.  I am thinking of bringing a motion to challenge it later on in the event -- when some circumstances that haven't occurred might occur.'  They would scream.  They would say, 'No, no, no, we have to clear this.'


Now, deferral account clearance, in my respectful submission, depends upon the occurrence of the event that gives rise to entitlement.  And so, harm or no harm, a deferral account clearance, in my submission, should follow if that event has occurred and there is no prospect, no reasonable prospect, of the party who is seeking to delay clearance to succeed on the grounds that they are asserting to delay clearance.


And so I hope that responds to your concern about harm.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It does largely.  In considering any adjournment request for -- in whatever context, the Board would normally take a look at the consequences of granting the adjournment, and particularly the irreparable consequences of granting the adjournment.


So that if it is -- and I take your point with respect to process, and your argument is to the effect that granting the adjournment harms the process in some degree because of representations that were made, and let's leave that aside for the moment.


In terms of the actual impact on ratepayers, it seems to me that the adjournment could be granted and the relief that you ultimately seek granted, and that that could be managed without harm to ratepayers in any degree.  So that it's the irreparable harm to ratepayers issue that I would like you to address to some extent.


MR. THOMPSON:  I agree.  You could structure the adjournment so that we are protected.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  But the point is, is there a case for adjournment.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand that.  That's also part of your submission, and I am -- the Board --


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that is my main submission, and so --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understand.


MR. THOMPSON:  But if you are asking me, can we set this up so that we are not harmed, I would say, yes, and probably the way it's set up now is good enough.  I would have to think through the earnings sharing implic -- this is all taking place in IRM, but at the moment these deferral accounts do provide -- if it's not 100 percent protection, it's pretty close.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.


MR. THOMPSON:  So I concede that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it -- but it comes back to the point, really, is there a case that Union can credibly present later dealing with the entitlement, ratepayers' entitlement, to the deferral account balances not arising until the sale actually takes place.


So that's the main thrust of this submission, and I will try and get through that as quickly as I can.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I appreciate that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


Now, just on a couple of points of, if you will, background facts, I just wanted to take you to the brief of confidential documents, and I will try and do this --


MR. SMITH:  Just before my friend launches into it, I see we are on air.  I don't know who may be listening, but --


MS. SEBALJ:  I was just going to make this point, that I suppose we should go in camera for purposes of reviewing the documents.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was going to try and do this without uttering anything that's offensive.


MR. SMITH:  I don't know what my friend is going to say.  If he wants to do that...


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is not uncommon for us to try to do that, and Mr. Thompson is generally very adept at doing that.  So we will all be very alert, and Mr. Thompson, we will be especially demanding on this subject.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, I know what happens if you go offside.  Two minutes for -- maybe five minutes for slashing.


Well, just quickly, the first document in the confidential documents brief is the purchase and sale agreement.  Now, the date on this is May the 1st of 2009.  The document that you have in here is -- it was produced -- it's not signed, so I don't know if one's ever been signed or not been signed, but for the purpose of my argument I assume it has been signed.


But the -- and this whole topic of conditions precedent, my friend Mr. Kitchen in his affidavit talks about some of these conditions precedent, but you will find them on page 10 of the document.  And this reliance on conditions precedent in this document didn't surface until late in July, just before the settlement conference.


But for example, if you look at sub-paragraph (d), this is a condition precedent, and it's all based on National Energy Board procedures.  Well, obviously that's been waived, because the Dawn Gateway withdrew its application to the National Energy Board, and there is a letter in our material pertaining to that.


And so my point is this, that you can go through these conditions precedent and, you know, ask yourself, is there any evidence that these have been waived.  What Mr. Kitchen does in his affidavit and Mr. Ripley in his correspondence, they are very careful.  They say it's Union's understanding that these -- certain conditions have not been waived.


Well, an understanding isn't evidence.  You could have an understanding that is absolutely unfounded by evidence, but that's what my friend calls uncontradicted sworn evidence, the words that say it's Union's understanding, and they refer to conditions E, G, and L in the letter that he mentioned.


And just, for example, G and L deal with issues on the U.S. side of the border.  And so I say, well, where is the evidence that supports an understanding that these have not been waived?  And when I come to the evidence, it's not there.  And what is there is clear evidence that they had been waived, they had to be waived.  So that's the first document in the confidential brief.


The other documents that I wanted to draw your attention to are tab 2.  These are the shipper contracts.  And just to put those in context, if you go to tab 2 of our material, this is excerpts from the application that DGLP filed before this Board.  And if you go in a few pages after the application, you will come to a document, "project summary", and then you come to the next document, "need for the project".  And it's here that you find reference to these shipping -- these committed shipper agreements.  And they are also cited in the Board's decision.


But you will see at the bottom, five shippers and a 

precedent agreement to subscribe for a total of 280,000 decatherms of firm transportation on the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.  And then it goes on:

"Any non-contracted past capacity will be made available to shippers through future open seasons or through direct negotiations."


That is exactly what is happening with the November 15th open season.  It's the further open season to find additional support.


Back, then, to the contracts themselves, what I wanted to make sure that you are aware of, that these are all long-term commitments.  One is for 10 years, one is for seven, and three of them are for five years.  And you can -- and the terms of the contracts call for payments of the monthly demand charge.  So regardless of the extent to which these shippers use the pipeline, it calls for the payment of a demand charge.


And this was all discussed on the record in the prior proceedings.


The amounts of those charges is what I wanted to draw to your attention, not to put on the record, but just to tell you where they are.


So the first contract under tab A, and it's -- this is -- it's no secret this is the contract with DGLP and Union.  So Union is the largest shipper on this pipeline.


MR. SMITH:  That, I actually don't think is on the record, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  I am sorry, I believe it is.  Well, in any event, I will have to obviously verify that for you, to satisfy us to that.  The document that you folks produced to us -- let me just back up.


If you go to the yellow sheet under tab A --


MR. SMITH:  I just meant on the public record.  The information is there.  You have the actual size of the contracts, yes, in confidence.  I am not saying that that hasn't been disclosed.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me just indicate that I believe in the -- this recent case that Union has ongoing for leave-to -- for contract approvals, long-term contract approvals, that some questions were asked and Union answered about its contract on the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.


So that's why I believe it's in the public record, not only there but elsewhere.


But in any event, the contract under tab A --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is the ranking of concern?


MR. SMITH:  It's the ranking.  I am not suggesting for a second Union's not a shipper; they are.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am just thinking about whether we need to take something out of the record.


MR. SMITH:  It's the relative ranking that's –-


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that the issue?


MR. SMITH:  That's the issue.  It's the relative ranking that is the issue.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  All right.  Well, let's –-


MR. SMITH:  I don't want to make a big deal out of it, but that's the issue.  We will come back on the record --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Come back to us later with respect to whether you want that in or out of the public record.


MR. SMITH:  We will do that.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson, is that all right with you?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it is.  That's very decent.  Thank you very much.


In any event, under tab A, the point I was trying to make, this is a contract for 10 years.  And you will see on page 2, the amount, monthly amount.  So you can multiply that amount by 12, and then the 12 by 10, and that's what that contract is worth to Dawn Gateway.


The next one under tab B, it's five years.  If you go to the second page, monthly reservation charge payable in any event, whether the -- any gas flows.  If you multiply that number by 12 and then by five, and you will find out what that contract is worth to DGLP.


The third one is, again, for five.  You will see the monthly reservation charge.  You can multiply that by 12 and then by five, and find out what that contract is worth.


Under D, it's the seven-year deal, and the monthly reservation charge is shown.  You can multiply that by 12 and times seven, and find out what that's worth.


And then finally under E, it's another five-year deal.  Monthly reservation charge, multiply it by five –- sorry, 12 and five, and you will find out what that's worth.


So you can total all this up, and you will see that the amounts committed to DGLP were more than what was required to cover the construction of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.


What's that got to do with the price of bread, you might ask.  Well, it's this.


Union is a major shipper.  You have to ask yourself who benefits if construction is delayed.  The deal was Dawn Gateway was committed to build this for an in-service date of November 1, and if they did, that they would be collecting these monies.


After the approvals were granted here, shortly thereafter, there is now this delay of construction.  Who benefits?  Union Gas.  That's a factor, I submit, that's relevant to your consideration of what's really happening in this particular construction delay scenario.


Now, let's move forward, then, to the events in the chronology dealing with the shipper entitlement to -- sorry, the ratepayers' entitlement to deferral account balances.


My friend has referred to the November 27th decision.  He is quite right.  That's the decision that gave rise to the deferral account, but things after, the landscape changed considerably after that decision was rendered.  There was no longer a position being taken by Union that had been taken in the run-up to the November decision, to the effect this thing could take as long as until December 13 –- sorry, December 2013 to be built.


Once the Board's decision was rendered, then a different scenario unfolded once Dawn Gateway decided to proceed in Ontario.


And that plays out in the materials that I have mentioned, at tab 2 of our motion record.  The application at paragraph 8 on the second page:

"There is a limited time span in which this project may proceed.  In order to meet an in-service date of November 1st as contracted by shippers, the Applicant must order pipe for the construction by the beginning of March."


So now the big push is:  We have got to get this -- we need our approvals from the Board immediately, and quicker than you would normally grant them.


Concurrently, in the proceedings that -- sale proceedings, Union is making similar submissions -- and my friend mentioned them -- dealing with the estimated completion date for the sale.  Their push is:  This thing is going ahead on -- is estimated to go ahead on March the 1st.


And at page 3 -- and I think he drew your attention to this -- under tab 3, Union said:

"Assuming that the Board grants leave-to-construct the Bickford-Dawn Pipeline and authorizes a regulatory framework that is satisfactory to DGPL..."


The date there was February 26th.  It actually got postponed to March the 11th.

"...Union expects to proceed with the sale of the St. Clair line to DGLP immediately thereafter."


Union couldn't be making that statement in its material if conditions about what goes on on the U.S. side had not been waived.  Nothing had happened on the U.S. side at that point, and the evidence was nothing was going to happen until the -- I think it was at the earliest, the third quarter of 2010.


So that was in the material that Union was presenting to this Board.  We responded.  Our response is at tab 4.  I won't go through it.  But at tab 5 -- then Union replies once again at tab 5, on page 1 of 8, at the bottom of the page, acknowledging:

"Although the date for a decision requested by DGLP..."


So this is Union talking about DGLP.  They knew exactly what each of them were doing:

"Although the date for a decision requested by DGLP is sooner than would normally be expected, since it is unlikely that the transaction will proceed if DGLP does not receive approval in the requested time frame, the estimated closing date as of March 1, 2010 is the most realistic date.  This is the date that should be used for any regulatory calculations associated with the sale of the St. Clair pipeline."


So Union is proposing that the sale date for regulatory purposes be March 1, 2010.  That then brings us to the hearing of the DGLP application and the transcript, and that is at tab 6 of the material.  And this hearing was on March the 1st, 2010, and the Board's decision dealing with the 6.4 million amount and the transaction date was actually released late in the day of March the 2nd, and it was at a time when the argument of the DGLP leave to construct and regulatory framework had been completed.


But when questioning Mr. Baker and Mr. Isherwood, who are both -- Mr. Baker is both Union -- a Union executive, as well as a DGLP co-president, I believe -- about the St. Clair line and when it would likely be sold and when ratepayers would become entitled to the deferral accounts to be recorded in, none of us knew what the amount was going to be or when the Board would actually render its decision on -- flowing from the November 27th decision.


And so it's in that context then that you have to join with me and just follow through the exchange with Mr. Baker.  And it starts at page 23.  And so we start on -- the St. Clair:

"Now, the St. Clair line, the plan is to own that and acquire it from Union, and the debate that is going on about how much ratepayers should get, Union, as I understand it, is taking the position this transaction, the purchase transaction, is going to be completed in March of 2010; is that correct?

"That's fair.

"And so if you get in this case the approval for the leave to construct Bickford, the Bickford to Dawn, is the purchase a go?"


I was trying to find out, is the deal going to be closed?  Are we supposed to treat it as closed for regulatory purposes in Ontario?  Are ratepayers to be entitled to the monies in the account once the sale is completed for regulatory purposes in Ontario?  This is what I was trying to get at to find out how this is all going to play out.

"So is the purchase a go?  Are there some things hanging out there that you need?

"Mr. Baker:  I think in total we need certainty on all aspects of this application, so it would be leave to construct the Bickford to Dawn piece."


So that is what was before the Board.

"And it would be a decision in this application on approval for the form of regulation that we are seeking..."


So that was regulatory framework:

"...along with any conditions, as well as the Board's final decision in the leave to sell the St. Clair line on the final ratepayer harm amount as well.

"All right.  Well, let's just explore that a little bit.  Let's just take the ratepayer harm issue.  Your proposal is 4 million.  I think I am as high as 8-.  A major component of the differential is whether the St. Clair toll is in or out of the subsidy calculation.  Would you agree with that?

"That's my understanding, yes."


Down at line 22:

"Well, the -- with the St. Clair toll and the subsidy calculation, your number becomes, give or take, $6.5 million."


Again, none of us know what the output would be, which turned out to be $6.4 million.


Then there is a dispute about interest, and our number goes higher, because we factor in Z-factor implications in considering a completion date:

"But assume the number is 6.5 million.  Is it a go or is it not a go?

"Mr. Baker:  I just don't think I can answer that question fully today, because we are still -- as I have said, this is not just a matter of one decision.  There are a number of things that are in play here.  We would need to have all of them to decide whether we are going forward with the project.

"All right.  Assume you get a decision on March 10 that says the number is 6.5 million.  What happens then? Are we waiting for you folks to come back to us?

"Mr. Baker:  Well, it would be -- we realize the fact that we are going to have to make a fairly quick decision here, because of the time frame that we are under to hit a 2010 in-service date.  So it would need to be practically a pretty quick turnaround, incorporating all of the decisions that this Board will need to make."


Then you go over the page.  We were struggling to find an interrogatory.  And then at line 4 we get to the March 11th date and the -- he talks about the ordering of the initial -- of the pipe in January.  And then picking up at line 18:

"So at the time you requested that extension..."


This was with the pipe supplier.

"...the debate as to whether it is four or eight was out in the open and on the table.

"That's correct.

"So you made that request for an extension, knowing that you were exposed to as much as 8 million.

"That's right.

"Thank you.  So do I understand correctly that if you were getting -- if you get what you are asking from this Board, it's a go.  The deal closes on March the 11th, in terms of acquiring the St. Clair line?"


And he goes on, and he talks about the Board's final decision and the amount of ratepayer harm, and there is a Board decision in this case on the regulatory framework and leave to construct:

"All right.  But my question is, if you get a result from this Board along the lines of what you are asking for, then the sale will be completed by March 11th.  I guess what I am saying is that for the sale to be completed means we have a decision in total based on all of the decisions of this Board that the project will proceed, and so it won't -- best be a decision in this case..."


When he is saying the word "this", he is talking about the 411 case:

"...as I said, it does -- it will also take into account the decision in the St. Clair line leave to construct application.

"I appreciate that.  So I guess maybe I should say when the St. Clair line leave to construct application decisions are rendered and the decisions in this case are rendered, are we done, in terms of waiting what you are waiting for?

"Yes, we are.  We will have everything we need to make a decision.

"So regardless of what happens on the U.S. side..."

Bear in mind they are now saying what happens on the U.S. side is holding up the deal:

"Regardless of what happens on the U.S. side, for regulatory purposes we can treat this deal as having been done in March..."


It says 2009.  It should be 2010.  That's obviously -- that's the date we were talking about.

"...assuming you accept what the Board has ruled on as being reasonable.

"That's correct." 


So we have right there, my submission, clear and unequivocal sworn evidence that for regulatory purposes in Ontario the St. Clair line completion date is March 2010, assuming Dawn Gateway approves -- DGLP approves the Board's decision in the leave to construct and regulatory regime proceeding as reasonable.


And so let me go on at line 4 on page 28, talking about what happens if something goes wrong on the U.S. side.  And I mentioned at line 11 nothing was going to take place over there until the third quarter.  But then at line 14:

"But regardless of what happens over there, as I understand it, here in Ontario for regulatory purposes... ratepayers can treat the St. Clair line as having been disposed of to Dawn Gateway and they will be entitled to, if you folks approve -- or if you don't crater the deal on what the Board decides, they'll be entitled to -- the amount they're entitled to will go into the deferral account.  This is the amount over and above net book value?

"That's correct."


So in my respectful submission, you have there sworn evidence presented to you to support relief that they were seeking, which you ultimately granted in their favour, saying that for regulatory purposes in Ontario, the entitlement of ratepayers to the amount recorded in the deferral account arises once DGLP accepted the leave-to-construct and regulatory regime decision as reasonable, and they did that shortly after your March 9th decision.


I then went on at line 23 to discuss the other regulatory implications for Union's customers of the deal being treated, for regulatory purposes, as having been completed in March 2010.  And I won't bore you with the questions and answers, but basically I went through the rate base number and the carrying cost on the rate base that would come out.  And then over at page 31, I said:

"So it's the sum of all those numbers, then, that would be coming out of the cost of service annually whenever this adjustment takes place; is that fair?"


He had acknowledged previously the Board will determine when that adjustment takes place.


So that's the evidence.  That's the sworn evidence of an executive, a senior executive of Union Gas, and my friend is now saying to you:  Well, no, no, no that's not the sale date of the St. Clair line for regulatory purposes.  March is not the sale date.  It's when the deal actually closes.


And I say to you that position is in direct contradiction to what the senior executives of Union put to you under oath, and persuaded you to grant relief in their favour -- which you granted -- and you shouldn't tolerate -- you shouldn't tolerate the company not adhering to what they put to you in that proceeding. 


The March 2nd decision that was rendered is at tab 8 of the material, and it's informative, I submit, to look at that decision to see what the Board took from what Union and DGLP were telling them in this run-up to the DGLP application, and as well, in the exchange that was going on about the amount to be recorded in the deferral account.


If you go to paragraph 25 at page 6, you will see that the Board talks about Union estimated the closing date of the transaction will be March 1, and it indicated why.  And then the second sentence:

"Union also noted that the hearing in the EB-2009-0422 proceeding is scheduled for early March and Union will proceed..."

Will proceed.

"... with the St. Clair line immediately thereafter, assuming that the Board grants DGLP leave-to-construct the Bickford-to-Dawn Line and authorizes a regulatory framework that is satisfactory to DGLP."


I submit that's confirmation exactly of what Mr. Baker and Union were saying, but more importantly, it reiterates that for regulatory purposes, the St. Clair line completion date is in March 2010, and not some uncertain date in the future.


And so anything that Union is now saying to discredit that, in my respectful submission, should not be given any weight.  Union should not be allowed to discredit what their own executives have said to persuade you to grant relief in their favour, Union and DGLP. 


In terms of the -- and so what happens after that, in my submission, really, if you accept that for regulatory purposes the ratepayers became entitled to the amounts recorded in the deferral account, as Union indicated in March 2010, anything Union and Dawn Gateway do after that really has no relevance.  The entitlement arose in March, and ratepayers are entitled to ask that the deferral accounts be cleared.


So all these issues about these questions about conditions precedent and waiver and all of that kind of thing are post -- post -- the acknowledgement of, and I say commitment, that for regulatory purposes, the March 2010 date is the date at which ratepayers became entitled to the funds in the account.


So if you accept that, there is really nothing more to be tried.  My friend says:  Well, there is a trial of an issue about waiver, and there is a trial in issue about conditions precedent.  But I say you really don't have to go there, because they are post-March 1 and March 2, when the entitlement of ratepayers was established. 


Just on those points, though, briefly on the conditions precedent, so you will appreciate the context, the annual report you will find at tab 10 of the material.  Just to put this -- this report was -- you will see in the second page, it's apparently dated March the 17th 2010, so this is after the hearing, after the decision on the 6.4 million, the creation of the second deferral account to capture removals effective March 1, and after the March 9th decision that the Board rendered approving the leave-to-construct and regulatory framework proposal on terms acceptable to DGLP.


The portion of the annual report that my friend referred to you will find at page 9, where the -- and the only purpose of -- my submission -- of including this in the annual report of Union is to indicate the sale is taking place.  Otherwise, why would they report it?


And so they talk about the sale of the line being contingent on DGLP receiving OEB approval, and they talk about the leave-to-construct, and they talk about the light-handed regulatory framework, and then say:

"In March 2010, a hearing was held and a decision received from the OEB approving both of these items."


Transmitting that the conditions precedent to the sale are only two, and transmitting that they have been satisfied.


The next item in the sequence with respect to conditions precedent is some questions that were asked at a technical conference, and you will find that at July 9, 2010.  This is leading up to the settlement conference.


And so the questions of Mr. DeRose were made of Ms. Elliott.  If you go to tab 9, and they start at the -- really at page 18, being questioned about these statements in the annual report.  And I won't read it to you, but if you go through the discussion from 18 to 21, Ms. Elliott says in response to Mr. DeRose:  Yes, the St. Clair line is a Union asset, and the agreement was between Union and Dawn Gateway to purchase that asset.


MS. SEBALJ:  Mr. Thompson, I apologize for interrupting, but just for the record, I don't think we're on -- no one here is on the right tab anyway, or the right -- you are suggesting pages 18 to 21, and under tab 9, it is indeed a transcript, but it starts at page 82. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I am at tab 16.


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, 16.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  My apologies. 


The July 9th was the technical conference date.  The transcript is tab 16.  And so nothing has surfaced about conditions precedent to this point in time, except what was in the annual report, and Mr. DeRose asked Union's witnesses about what the annual report said about conditions precedent, and that discussion began at page 19, and then it carried over to page 21, and Ms. Elliott said in response to a question from Mr. DeRose:

"Yes, the St. Clair line is a Union asset, and the agreement was with -- between Union and Dawn Gateway to purchase the asset."


Mr. DeRose says:

"Right.  And so I presume that since it is your annual report Union would know what conditions precedent have to be met to close the sale on its own asset.

"Answer:  Yes.

"And are these the two conditions precedent?"


Ms. Elliott said:

"Yes, and these..."


These are her words:

"...and these are the two conditions precedent to close the sale on this asset."


Then just before the settlement conference begins we get this letter that my friend Mr. Crawford Smith referred to at tab 17.  And once again, if you look at that letter, it's:

"Further, it's Union's understanding -- it's Union's understanding -- that at least the following conditions have not been waived."


And he talks about a vote, and he talks about two conditions relating to transactions on the U.S. side, which Mr. Baker, during the course of examination, said that's of no relevance to the St. Clair line transaction date for sale purposes -- St. Clair line sale transaction date for regulatory purposes in Ontario.


So you have, I suggest, pretty convincing evidence of waiver even if we have to go there, which I don't think we do, because of the commitments that were made on March the 1st and the decisions of November the 27th and March the 2nd.


I am just about done.


On the settlement agreement, just a point that I wanted to raise there.  This is a document that is in my friend's material at page -- sorry, tab E, and at page 7.  The situation then when we came on to the settlement conference was Union had put in this proposal in its evidence that I have drawn your attention to that contemplated a motion, which was never brought.


We had asked our questions in interrogatories.  A number of them they had refused to answer concerning production of documents.  We had had our examination at the technical conference, and we were now here to deal with the proposal that Union had made in its filing.


And so it was clear there was not going to be an agreement on this.  A hearing was required.  And our position was, as it is today, that the St. Clair line sale transaction date for regulatory purposes is March, and so all of this stuff that Union was floating was of no relevance.


So we wanted to get on with the hearing.  We also wanted to get production of the documents.  And so from our perspective, whether we heard it in the summer or later, as long as we heard it before year end, that would suffice to hopefully get the credits into rates for 2011.


And so the agreement was in paragraph 2 that the matter would come back on for a hearing before the Board on a date or dates agreeable to the Board between November 29 and December 31; in other words, a hearing before year end.  That was the deal.  And subsequently the Board fixed those dates, two dates, to reflect that deal.


It was also agreed that Union could provide some further evidence if it wished.  It didn't do anything.  And also, down at the bottom, the documents were produced.


And so what happened, Union does not, in my respectful submission, comply with the deal to come to a hearing.  They say, 'No, no, we want to move to postpone our agreed-upon hearing.'  I say that's varying the terms of the agreement.


Our position is, with the cross-motion, well, let's hear our issue as to the possible success of your position now.  Nothing is going to change between now and later, I don't think, with respect to our position that that issue is -- does not require a trial.


And so that's where we are, and I think, Mr. Chairman, you have indicated in opening that that's the result of combining their motion for adjournment and our cross-motion.


So in conclusion, I submit to you that there is on this record no credible case that Union can make to support its position that for regulatory purposes the St. Clair line sale transaction date is anything other than the date in March 2010.


These people could, as I say, string this out forever, and I submit that is contrary to the representations they made, the evidence, and your decisions.  I find it troubling, quite frankly, that they refuse to adhere to the sworn evidence they provided to you to support the request for relief they were seeking, and I hope that you are troubled by this as well.  And I urge you to dismiss their motion and grant the cross-motion.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


We will take ten minutes and then hear your reply, Mr. Smith.  And as I indicated, Mr. Thompson, because you have made a cross-motion, if you feel the need to further reply, we will consider a request if you make one.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, sir.  That's fine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will stand down for ten minutes.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 12:23 p.m.


--- On resuming at 12:39 p.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There is one question that the Board would like to raise with Mr. Thompson before your reply, Mr. Smith, that relates to your comments respecting construction delay and the benefit to Union arising from the construction delay.


Do you propose that the Board would do anything about that, if the Board were convinced that that was so?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, it was simply to highlight the, I guess, conflicting interests that are in play here. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Smith?

Further Submissions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Given this is reply, I don't intend to belabour any of these points, but I do want to start by saying that the fundamental premise of my friend's position is, in my submission, wrong and inconsistent with the 2008-0411 proceeding.


If you look at the context, Members of the Panel, of the evidence that was being given that my friend refers and relies on extensively back in March, all the Board was looking at, at that time, the only issue, was how to give effect to its earlier decision about, for regulatory purposes, what day should we put in account 179-121 and 179-122.


And there was debate.  Should it be a March date, my friend's December date?  That was it.


It was not an attempt to transform what the Board had already decided, which is if there is a sale, it will cause harm, into what my friend's motion would have you accept, which is even if there is no sale, we will create a regulatory fiction that there has been, and credit ratepayers to the tune of $6.4 million, plus the amounts in account 122, plus interest.


And in my submission, that interpretation is absolutely inconsistent with the Board's decision.  The only thing the Board could have been doing is saying, as it did in that case:  As a result of the transaction, there will be harm.  Let's look at how we compensate for that.  Let's structure deferral accounts.  That's it. 


There will be -- that's point one -- there will be a dispute on the evidence.  And clearly, my friend can cross-examine about it.


In my submission, I think when you start from first principles, Union's position will be adopted.  My friend obviously thinks differently, but if you look at the evidence -- just picking up a few of his points -- I would like to take you to some of the evidence to highlight the discrepancy.


The first is the March evidence.  Absolutely, in March, 2010, Mr. Baker testified for regulatory purposes -- and I have told you what I think that means -- we think the project is going to go ahead.  That was his belief at the time, but let's look what happened shortly thereafter, my friend's own materials.


And in my submission, it's not as though people don't ever change their mind on projects and economics don't change in this situation, but this is my friend's material.


If you turn to tab 15, these are interrogatories that Union answered in this proceeding, and if you look at page -- tab 15, one, two, third page in, it's Exhibit B-317, and it was a request from my friend to provide documents and e-mails exchanged between DGLP and any of its shippers that asked to delay construction of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline, and DGLP's responses to those requests.


And if you turn over the page, here is an e-mail from Mr. Baker.  I refer you to item number 2, and my friend commented on the timing of this and how nobody could know what was happening in the market until the third quarter of 2010, he said.  Here is Mr. Baker on March 12th, 2010, in his capacity with DGLP, advising, number 2, tonnes of uncertainty in all market, no economics anywhere to flow gas on any pipeline, generally basis differentials do not even cover variable fuel costs.


That was the very reason communicated by DGLP to the Board and intervenors in April.  And so this issue was highlighted.


Turning to my friend's next submission, which was who benefits from this project, and his submission was:  I will tell you who benefits, Union benefits.


Well, turn the page over to page 318 -- to Interrogatory 318:

"Did a representative of Union's unregulated storage business submit a written or oral request to DGLP to delay construction of the pipeline?"


Answer:

"Union supported the pipeline project proceeding."


Then it goes on:

"Other shippers didn't."


So to the extent my friend wants to make anything out of whether Union would or would not benefit out of this, Union's evidence is actually we didn't want it to be cancelled, but the other shippers did.


My friend referred to the April letter, and said the April letter doesn't say that this project is not going to proceed.  Well, what my friend did not advise you is that by the time the April letter was sent, the amending agreements had already been entered into 10 days earlier, and those amending agreements specifically provide for options to proceed with the project, and if those options aren't taken up, then ultimately the contracts lapse with the effect that the project doesn't go ahead.  That would have been known to everybody.


Ultimately, in my submission, Union's position has at all times been consistent.  My friend started off with his submission that Union's position has changed; he said at the outset, at first it went from we are now saying no sale and previously we were saying if no project.


Well, of course there is no project if there is no sale.  My position is Union's position has been consistent throughout.


But at the end of the day, in my submission, my friend conceded the reasonableness of the request for an adjournment.  In answer to a question whether there would be harm, he said no, there is no harm that isn't compensated.  He couldn't quite bring himself to say 100 percent by the deferral accounts, but pretty close, whatever that number is.  It's pretty high.


And in my submission, it is 100 percent.  There is no consequence at all to the adjournment, and only benefit in terms of additional information, because you won't need a proceeding at all if what comes out what's happening over this six to eight weeks is this project is going ahead, because Union's position is perfectly crystal clear on it.  The money should go to ratepayers, because the money is to compensate for the transaction if it occurs, and if it is occurring, they'll get the money, and if not, we will have another fight.


Those are my submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Mondrow and Mr. Quinn, I assume that you would have jumped up and down and indicated that you wanted to say something if you did.
 Speak now, or forever hold your peace. 


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir. 

Submissions by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  I will just, by way of explanation for you as attendance here, IGUA is interested in this matter.  It is interested in the ratepayer credit and the fate of the St. Clair line.  And IGUA attended, in part, given some unpredictability of the proceedings, given the substantive issues that have been floating around the periphery, and certainly you identified them by the Board's intent today at the outset.  And also in part to be a responsible participant on this issue.


And in that sense, I should say, because I think it would be responsible of IGUA to note its position, that while IGUA is sensitive to CME's concerns and arguments, for today IGUA's view would be that an adjournment without prejudice to any of these arguments would be the most appropriate relief.  More information is always better.


Union will, if the adjournment is granted, file evidence for the February hearing on which there may well be cross-examination.  And Mr. Thompson has acknowledged that there will be no ratepayer prejudice in the result, which was a concern that IGUA had, and thus another reason to attend to try to understand the position on ratepayer prejudice.


So I thought that I should, in fairness to the Board, put that on the record.


And I will leave it at that.  Thank you. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir. 

Submissions by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  As the Federation, we have been part of the proceedings in not only the leave-to-sell but also the leave-to-construct.  And we had certainly followed this with great interest, because of our concern about past under-recovery and the harm to ratepayers moving forward.


One of the issues that we had identified in that consideration of harm at the outset was the long-term option that the company would enjoy, in terms of having an asset that was developed as a utility asset, and then would find its way to its shareholder parents at a time that it becomes a more valuable asset.


So at this juncture, though, we understand that that issue would be canvassed at a later date if we were in a proceeding, but in terms of continued harm, that option is still out there, and so we continue to support Mr. Thompson in adjourning at this time -- or, excuse me, in his submissions at this time that -- on his cross-motion that the ratepayers have come to expect that the construction would proceed for the benefits of those who would enjoy them under the Board's approval in the past, and therefore at this time with the -- his clearly defined submissions that I don't have anything to offer legally in those matters and would leave it in the Board's hands to make the decision in the public interest.  Thank you.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, just a couple of points, Mr. Chairman, in response to what my friend had said. First of all, he said what -- Mr. Baker's evidence was talking about a sale taking place as of March 1st, and he mentions people can be mistaken and that kind of thing.  Actually, what Mr. Baker said was -- and I am paraphrasing this -- as long as DGLP gets the relief that it was seeking for, then it doesn't matter if something operates to delay the sale.  That's what he was saying.  The entitlement of ratepayers to the money, according to Mr. Baker, arises on the sale transaction date for regulatory purposes; i.e., when Dawn Gateway accepts.  That's what I submit he says, and I don't think that can be reasonably challenged, in my respectful submission.


And so what's the further information that we are waiting for to deal with what I say the position is, it's there, it's in the record, it cannot be contradicted.


The final point, he made some reference to my submissions as suggesting the market was not evolving before the third quarter of 2010.  That's what I understood him to say.  I don't think I said that in my submissions.  My reference to the third quarter of 2010 was with respect to the evidence that indicated when DGLP planned to seek U.S. approvals, and that was discussed with Mr. Baker in the transcript that I referred you to, and what I was saying was, because that's months away, is anything over there going to cause problems, and the answer was, 'No, no, once we've -- once we've accepted the Board's decision on regulatory framework as reasonable, we know what the dollar amounts are, then the entitlement -- the entitlement arises,' so I think he misquoted -- or misunderstood what I was trying to say in my submissions.


Apart from that, I think I would just be repeating myself, so thank you very much.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Ms. Sebalj?

Submissions by Ms. Sebalj:


MS. SEBALJ:  Board Staff would only offer a few comments.  The first is with respect to the notion of -- on the motion for adjournment, with respect to the notion of harm.  If it assists the Panel in any way, Board Staff has reviewed all the evidence and is also of the view that no irreparable harm would be done by having -- by granting the motion for adjournment.


And the second point I would like to make is on the cross-motion, which has been described as being in the nature of summary judgment, which is somewhat troubling from our -- from a legal point of view at the Board, and I would rather call it an expedited decision.


As a matter of form, this Board is, of course, empowered to make a decision on the basis that it believes it has all the evidence that it needs to make that decision, and if that's done on an expedited basis, then that's completely appropriate, and I just wanted to put that on the record so that this notion of summary judgment isn't sort of left hanging out there.


But related to that, Board Staff has a concern that at least two of the parties in this room have suggested that the arguments related to the cross-motion is a fight for another day, which suggests that there are more submissions to be made on this point, and I only raise it because, from the perspective of making an order, if the Board was inclined to make an order today for the disposition of the deferral accounts, we are a fairly practical group here at Board Staff, and we see that as a final order that would result in the disposition, which would be very difficult to reverse in the future.  


So to the extent that other parties are under the impression that they are going to make further arguments on that point, if this Panel was inclined to grant that and to dispose of those accounts, there is quite a bit of jurisprudence on what the meaning of a final order is from this Board and from other tribunals.  My summary of it is that final orders are final orders, and so to claw back those amounts if a different argument was made on a later date would be very difficult to do, from a practical perspective.  I only offer that as a sort of a back-end argument, but it's how Board Staff thinks, which is, how would we implement this and undo it if we had to?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Thompson's motion was made with notice to all intervenors, so that they would have been on notice of the relief that he was seeking, and it would have been in a -- they would have been in a position to attend if they saw fit, so --


MS. SEBALJ:  That's correct.  I only mention it, obviously -- again, if this Board feels that the evidentiary record is complete and is inclined to make that decision, then that's perfectly appropriate.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It is now five minutes to 1:00.  This is the lunch hour.  The Board would like to deliberate and provide a decision today on this case.


Just a moment, please.


The Board will stand down until two o'clock.  It's our hope to have an oral decision at that time.  That will give everybody, including the court reporter, an opportunity to have lunch.  Maybe we won't get lunch, but we will sort that out.


So we will stand down until two o'clock, at which time we hope to have a decision.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess at 12:57 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:08 p.m.

DECISION:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board has arrived at a decision.


The Board would like to thank the parties for their very capable submissions and helpful materials.


The central issue before the Board in this matter is the extent to which ratepayer entitlement to disposition of accounts 179-121 and 179-122 is dependent on the completion of the transaction between Union Gas and DGLP for the sale of the Dawn Gateway Pipeline.


It is Mr. Thompson's core submission that ratepayer entitlement to the amounts in these deferral accounts has already ripened, and that it is not dependent in any degree on any further developments in the transaction.


Mr. Smith, on behalf of Union Gas, argues that recovery by ratepayers is conditional upon completion of the sale of the pipeline.


It is the Board's view that Mr. Thompson has made a compelling argument.  However, for the reasons indicated below, the Board will grant Union's motion for an adjournment, acknowledging that it faces a significant burden going forward.


The Board grants the adjournment in light of two factors.  First, the Board can make any disposition it sees fit in 2011 in a manner that makes ratepayers whole.  This means that if the Board adopts Mr. Thompson's position after the hearing in February of 2011, it can do so in a manner that will make ratepayers whole.


Second, in the event that there are developments in the transaction, a more efficient and simpler regulatory process is likely to emerge.  For example, if the transaction is completed, disposition of the deferral accounts will be accomplished in a seamless and uncontentious manner.  The Board sees benefit in making this outcome possible.


The adjournment will be granted to Union on a with-prejudice basis -- which is to say that if Union were to seek a further adjournment, it would face an extremely high burden -- to dates to be determined in consultation with intervenors and Board Staff.


Accordingly, CME's cross motion is denied.


Are there any questions arising?


MR. SMITH:  No.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  A rather pale victory, Mr. Smith, but there you have it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, could I just make a point about requesting my costs?  I assume it will be dealt with later.  It doesn't have to be dealt with now, but I am requesting reasonably incurred costs.


The other point I would ask you to consider is the term of the adjournment, is setting a deadline for Union to submit any fresh evidence that it proposes to adduce.  You'll recall that's in the agreement, and I would suggest 30 days before the new date that's scheduled for the hearing.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thirty days prior to the next –-


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Smith, do you have any --


MR. SMITH:  No, that -- I think that's actually sensible, to give the parties some guidance as to -- and time to prepare the record.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So let the Board decision be amended accordingly, that we would require Union to file any additional evidence or fresh evidence that it wishes to file with respect to this issue at least 30 days prior to the -- no earlier than 30 days prior to the dates set, which, as I indicated, will be set in consultation with Board Staff and intervenors.


I guess one of the things that the parties will look at is aligning this matter with other regulatory instruments that are in play, the QRAM, for example, earnings sharing determinations, and so on.  I will leave that to the parties to sort of figure out what the best route for that is.


Is there anything further?


MR. SMITH:  There is nothing further.  The only observation I would make is it had been our request for a date in the latter portion of February, and so just -- I assume that's reflected in the decision, but that is certainly what we will be talking to Board Staff about.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board is not indisposed to that, but suggests that intervenors need to be consulted, and Board Staff, in terms of trying to make that alignment work.


MR. SMITH:  Understood.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  The Board stands adjourned.


--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 2:12 p.m.
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